## BOOTS & COOTS INTERNATIONAL WELL CONTROL INC Form 10-Q

November 06, 2008

## UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-Q

#### T QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the Quarter Ended September 30, 2008

or

## £ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the Transition Period from \_\_\_\_\_ to \_\_\_\_

Commission File Number 1-13817

Boots & Coots International
Well Control, Inc.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) 11-2908692 (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

7908 N. Sam Houston Parkway W., 5th Floor Houston, Texas (Address of principal executive offices)

77064 (Zip Code)

(281) 931-8884

(Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes T No £

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (check one):

Large accelerated Filer £	Accelerated Filer T
Non-accelerated Filer £ (Do not check if a s	maller reportingSmaller reporting company £
company)	
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell T	company (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 12b-2). Yes £ No
The number of shares of the Registrant's Common Stoc 2008, was 77,064,087.	k, par value \$.00001 per share, outstanding at November 5,

#### BOOTS & COOTS INTERNATIONAL WELL CONTROL, INC.

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

#### PART I FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Unaudited)

		Page
Item 1.	Financial Statements	
	Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets	3
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income	4
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity	5
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows	6
	Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements	7
Item 2.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	17
Item 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk	25
Item 4.	Controls and Procedures	25
	PART II	
	OTHER INFORMATION	
Item 1.	<u>Legal Proceedings</u>	26
Item 1A.	Risk Factors	26
Item 2.	<u>Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds</u>	26
Item 3.	<u>Defaults Upon Senior Securities</u>	27
Item 4.	Submissions of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders	27
Item 5.	Other Information	27
Item 6.	<u>Exhibits</u>	27
2		

#### **Table of Contents**

## BOOTS & COOTS INTERNATIONAL WELL CONTROL, INC. CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(000's except share and per share amounts)

ASSETS CURRENT ASSETS:	Septer 30 200 (unaud		D	31, 2007
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	6,087	\$	6,501
Restricted cash	Ψ	29	Ψ	29
Receivables, net		66,575		45,044
Inventory		2,761		1,385
Prepaid expenses and other current assets		10,291		8,796
Total current assets		85,743		61,755
				,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, net		76,774		60,753
GOODWILL		8,886		8,886
INTANGIBLE ASSETS, net		4,088		4,472
OTHER ASSETS		202		549
Total assets	\$	175,693	\$	136,415
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY				
CURRENT LIABILITIES:				
Current maturities of long-term debt	\$	1,940	\$	1,940
Accounts payable		20,715		12,020
Foreign income tax payable		1,768		2,710
Accrued liabilities		19,215		10,373
Total current liabilities		43,638		27,043
LONG-TERM DEBT, net of current maturities		9,007		4,985
RELATED PARTY LONG-TERM DEBT		21,166		21,166
DEFERRED TAXES		5,375		5,658
OTHER LIABILITIES		684		520
Total liabilities		79,870		59,372
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES				
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:				
Preferred stock (\$.00001 par value, 5,000,000 shares authorized, 0 shares issued and				
outstanding at September 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively)		-	_	_
Common stock (\$.00001 par value, 125,000,000 shares authorized, 76,890,000 and				
76,865,000 shares issued and outstanding, respectively at September 30, 2008 and		1		1
75,564,000 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2007)		127.249		125 200
Additional paid-in capital		127,348		125,209
Accumulated other comprehensive loss		(1,234)		(1,234)
Accumulated deficit		(30,255)		(46,933)
Subtotal Tracerum Steels at east		95,860		77,043
Treasury Stock, at cost		(37)		<del>-</del>

Total stockholders' equity	95,823	77,043
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	\$ 175,693	\$ 136,415

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

#### **Table of Contents**

# BOOTS & COOTS INTERNATIONAL WELL CONTROL, INC. CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (000's except share and per share amounts) (Unaudited)

		Three Months Ended September 30, 2008 2007				Nine Months Ended September 30, 2008 2007		
REVENUES	\$	56,452	\$	24,973	\$	153,371	\$	69,184
COST OF SALES, excluding depreciation and								
amortization		36,158		14,776		95,369		42,609
OPERATING EXPENSES		7,681		4,380		20,853		13,366
SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE								
EXPENSES		2,381		1,637		7,714		4,088
FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION		55		77		155		260
DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION		2,383		1,551		6,657		4,261
OPERATING INCOME		7,794		2,552		22,623		4,600
INTEREST EXPENSE		694		681		2,005		1,969
OTHER (INCOME) AND EXPENSE, net		(6)		(185)		(34)		(493)
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES		7,106		2,056		20,652		3,124
INCOME TAX EXPENSE		1,658		725		3,974		1,055
NET INCOME		5,448		1,331		16,678		2,069
Basic Earnings per Common Share:	\$	0.07	\$	0.02	\$	0.22	\$	0.03
Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding – Basic	,	76,203,000		74,897,000	7	75,577,000	(	68,396,000
Diluted Earnings per Common Share:	\$	0.07	\$	0.02	\$	0.21	\$	0.03
Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding – Diluted	l T	78,859,000		76,464,000	7	78,041,000	-	70,702,000

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

#### **Table of Contents**

## BOOTS & COOTS INTERNATIONAL WELL CONTROL, INC. CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY Nine Months Ended September 30, 2008

(Unaudited) (000's)

					A	ccumulate	d				
				Add	litional	Other		Treas	sury		Total
	Preferred	l Com	mon								
	Stock	Sto	ck	Pa	id - inCo	mprehensi	<b>Ac</b> cumula	ted Sto	ck	Sto	ckholders'
	Sharesmou	ant Shares	Amou	nt Ca	apital	Loss	Deficit	Shar	res Am	nount	Equity
BALANCES, December	r										
31, 2007	—\$	<b>—</b> 75,564	· \$ 1	\$ 1	25,209	\$ (1,234)	\$ (46,93	33)	-\$	— \$	77,043
Common stock options											
exercised	_	<b>—</b> 1,266	)		1,121	-	_	_	_	_	1,121
Restricted common stoc	k										
issued	_	<b>—</b> 60	)	—	_		_		—	_	_
Purchase of treasury											
stock				—	_			— (2	25)	(37)	(37)
Stock based											
compensation	_	_	—	—	1,018	-	_	_	_	_	1,018
Net income				—	_		<b>—</b> 16,67	78			16,678
BALANCES, September	er										
30, 2008	—\$	<b>—</b> 76,890	\$ 1	\$ 1	27,348	\$ (1,234)	\$ (30,25	(25)	25) \$	(37) -\$	95,823

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### BOOTS & COOTS INTERNATIONAL WELL CONTROL, INC. CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (000's) (Unaudited)

	Nine Months September			
		2008		2007
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:	Φ	16 670	ф	2.060
Net income	\$	16,678	\$	2,069
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:		( (57		4.061
Depreciation and amortization		6,657		4,261
Deferred tax credit		(681)		(305)
Stock-based compensation		1,018		976
Bad debt expense		229		(6.10)
Gain on sale/disposal of assets		(256)		(640)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of business acquisitions:				
Receivables		(21,760)		13,301
Inventory		(1,376)		(71)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets		(1,495)		(4,719)
Other assets		744		102
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities		16,759		(6,689)
Net cash provided by operating activities		16,517		8,285
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:				
Business acquired, net of cash received		_	-	(10,694)
Property and equipment additions		(22,387)		(12,766)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment		350		1,339
Net cash used in investing activities		(22,037)		(22,121)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:				
Payments of term loan		(1,455)		(1,997)
Revolving credit net borrowings(payments)		5,477		(1,917)
Purchase of treasury stock		(37)	_	_
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock		_	_	28,827
Decrease in restricted cash		_	-	261
Stock options exercised		1,121		586
Net cash provided by financing activities		5,106		25,760
Net increase(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents		(414)		11,924
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of period		6,501		5,033
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of period	\$	6,087	\$	16,957
SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW DISCLOSURES:				
Cash paid for interest	\$	2,079	\$	1,683
Cash paid for income taxes		4,456		5,755

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

#### **Table of Contents**

# BOOTS & COOTS INTERNATIONAL WELL CONTROL, INC. NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Nine Months Ended September 30, 2008 (Unaudited)

#### A. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Rule 10-01 of Regulation S-X. They do not include all information and notes required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America for complete annual financial statements. The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements include all adjustments, including normal recurring accruals, which, in the opinion of management, are necessary to make the condensed consolidated financial statements not misleading. The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and notes thereto and the other financial information contained in this report should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements and notes in our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007, and our reports filed previously with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). The results of operations for the nine month period ended September 30, 2008 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year. Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior period consolidated financial statements to conform to current period presentation.

#### B. RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157 (SFAS 157), "Fair Value Measurements," which defines fair value, establishes guidelines for measuring fair value and expands disclosures regarding fair value measurements. SFAS 157 does not require any new fair value measurements but rather eliminates inconsistencies in guidance found in various prior accounting pronouncements. SFAS 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. In February 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (FSP) 157-2, "Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157," which defers the effective date of Statement 157 for nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities, except for items that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in an entity's financial statements on a recurring basis (at least annually), to fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Earlier adoption is permitted, provided the company has not yet issued financial statements, including for interim periods, for that fiscal year. We have adopted those provisions of SFAS 157 that were unaffected by the delay in the first quarter of 2008. Such adoption has not had a material effect on our consolidated statement of financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141(R), "Business Combinations." SFAS 141(R) established revised principles and requirements for how the Company will recognize and measure assets and liabilities acquired in a business combination. The objective of this statement is to improve the relevance, representational faithfulness, and comparability of the information that a reporting entity provides in its financial reports about a business combination and its effects. The statement is effective for business combinations completed on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2008, which begins January 1, 2009 for the Company. The adoption of SFAS 141(R) is not expected to have a material impact on the Company's results from operations or financial position.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, "Non-controlling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements, an amendment of ARB No. 51". SFAS 160 establishes accounting and reporting standards for the non-controlling interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. The objective of this statement is to improve the relevance, comparability, and transparency of the financial information that a reporting entity provides in its

consolidated financial statements by establishing accounting and reporting standards. The statement is effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning on or after December 15, 2008, which begins January 1, 2009 for the Company. The adoption of SFAS 160 is not expected to have a material impact on the Company's results from operations or financial position.

#### **Table of Contents**

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, "Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities—an amendment of FASB Statement No. 133". SFAS 161 changes the disclosure requirements for derivative instruments and hedging activities. Entities are required to provide enhanced disclosures about (a) how and why an entity uses derivative instruments, (b) how derivative instruments and related hedged items are accounted for under Statement 133 and its related interpretations, and (c) how derivative instruments and related hedged items affect an entity's financial position, financial performance, and cash flows. The Statement is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after November 15, 2008, which begins January 1, 2009 for the Company. The adoption of SFAS 161 is not expected to have a material impact on the Company's results from operations or financial position.

In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 162, "The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles" (SFAS 162). This statement identifies the sources of accounting principles and the framework for selecting the principles used in the preparation of financial statements of nongovernmental entities that are presented in accordance with GAAP. With the issuance of this statement, the FASB concluded that the GAAP hierarchy should be directed toward the entity and not its auditor, and reside in the accounting literature established by the FASB as opposed to the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) Statement on Auditing Standards No. 69, "The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conformity With Generally Accepted Accounting Principles." The effective date of this statement is November 15, 2008. The adoption of SFAS 162 is not expected to have a material impact on the Company's results from operations or financial position.

In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 163, "Accounting for Financial Guarantee Insurance Contracts-an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 60." Diversity exists in practice in accounting for financial guarantee insurance contracts by insurance enterprises under FASB Statement No. 60, Accounting and Reporting by Insurance Enterprises. This results in inconsistencies in the recognition and measurement of claim liabilities. This Statement requires that an insurance enterprise recognize a claim liability prior to an event of default (insured event) when there is evidence that credit deterioration has occurred in an insured financial obligation. This Statement requires expanded disclosures about financial guarantee insurance contracts. The accounting and disclosure requirements of the Statement will improve the quality of information provided to users of financial statements. The Statement is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2008, which begins January 1, 2009 for the Company. The adoption of FASB 163 is not expected to have a material impact on the Company's results from operations or financial position.

In June 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (FSP) Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) No. 03-6-1, "Determining Whether Instruments Granted in Share-Based Payment Transactions Are Participating Securities." Under the FSP, unvested share-based payment awards that contain rights to receive non-forfeitable dividends (whether paid or unpaid) are participating securities, and should be included in the two-class method of computing EPS. The FSP is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008, and interim periods within those years, and is not expected to have a material impact on the Company's results from operations or financial position.

In October 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (FSP) No. 157-3, "Determining the Fair Value of a Financial Asset When the Market for That Asset Is Not Active." This FSP clarifies the application of FASB Statement No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, in a market that is not active and provides an example to illustrate key considerations in determining the fair value of a financial asset when the market for that financial asset is not active. This FSP shall be effective upon issuance, including prior periods for which financial statements have not been issued. Such adoption has not had a material effect on our consolidated statement of financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

#### Table of Contents

#### C. DETAILS OF SELECTED BALANCE SHEET ACCOUNTS

	30	September 30, 2008 (unaudited)		ecember 31, 2007
		(00	0's)	)
Receivables, net:	ф	15 ((0)	Φ	22.126
Trade Unbilled Revenue	\$	45,660 20,932	\$	33,136 12,011
Other		421		144
Allowance for doubtful accounts		(438)		(247)
The wanter for deductar accounts	\$		\$	45,044
	30	ptember 0, 2008 naudited)	D	ecember 31, 2007
		(00	0's)	1
Prepaid expenses and other current assets:		(00	0 5)	'
Prepaid taxes	\$	4,402	\$	3,528
Prepaid insurance		2,698		2,092
Other prepaid expenses and current assets		3,191		3,176
	\$	10,291	\$	8,796
	30	ptember 0, 2008 naudited)		ecember 31, 2007
Duamoutty and acquimment note		(00	0's)	)
Property and equipment, net:  Land	\$	571	\$	571
Building and leasehold improvements	Ψ	3,586	Ψ	3,631
Equipment Equipment		67,196		52,909
Furniture, fixtures and office		2,553		2,234
Vehicles		3,607		2,455
Construction in progress		16,046		9,954
Total property and equipment		93,559		71,754
Less: Accumulated depreciation		(16,785)		(11,001)
Less. Accumulated depreciation	\$	76,774	\$	60,753
	30	ptember 0, 2008 naudited)	D	ecember 31, 2007
		(00	0's)	1
Accrued liabilities:		<b>.</b>		
Accrued compensation and benefits	\$	7,525	\$	3,244

Accrued insurance	991	392
Accrued taxes, other than foreign income tax	6,018	3,380
Other accrued liabilities	4,681	3,357
	\$ 19,215	\$ 10,373
9		

#### **Table of Contents**

#### D. BUSINESS ACQUISITION AND GOODWILL

#### StassCo Acquisition

On July 31, 2007, we acquired StassCo Pressure Control, LLC (StassCo) for \$11.2 million, net of cash acquired and including transaction costs and a payable to the former owners of \$500,000. StassCo performs snubbing services in the Cheyenne Basin, Wyoming and operates four hydraulic rig assist units based in Rock Springs, Wyoming. The transaction was effective for accounting and financial purposes as of August 1, 2007.

In accordance with SFAS No. 141, "Business Combinations", we used the purchase method to account for our acquisition of StassCo. Under the purchase method of accounting, the assets acquired and liabilities assumed from StassCo were recorded at the date of acquisition at their respective fair values.

The purchase price, including direct acquisition costs, exceeded the fair value of acquired assets and assumed liabilities, resulting in the recognition of goodwill of approximately \$4.6 million. The total purchase price, including direct acquisition costs of \$0.1 million, a \$0.5 million payable earned as contingent consideration by the former owners, less cash acquired of \$0.8 million, was \$11.2 million. The operating results of StassCo are included in the consolidated financial statements subsequent to the August 1, 2007 effective date. The intangible assets consist of customer relationships of \$3,600,000 being amortized over a 13 year period and management non-compete agreements of \$1,086,000 being amortized over 5.5 and 3.5 year periods.

The fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed effective August 1, 2007 were as follows (in thousands):

Current assets (excluding cash)	\$ 744
Property and equipment	3,491
Goodwill	4,560
Intangible assets	4,686
Total assets acquired	13,481
Current liabilities	270
Deferred taxes	2,017
Total liabilities assumed	2,287
Net assets acquired	\$ 11,194

The following unaudited pro forma financial information presents the combined results of operations of the Company and StassCo as if the acquisition had occurred as of the beginning of the period presented. The unaudited pro forma financial information is not necessarily indicative of what our consolidated results of operations actually would have been had we completed the acquisition at the date indicated. In addition, the unaudited pro forma financial information does not purport to project the future results of operations of the combined company.

#### **Table of Contents**

	Three Months Ended September 30,				-		nths Ended ober 30,																			
	2007		2008		2008 (000's)		2008		2008		2008		2008		2008		2008		*		•			2007		2008
	Pro	o forma	Pro forma (000's)																							
	(000)	)'s)					(00	00's)																		
Revenue	\$	25,422	\$	56,452	\$	71,989	\$	153,371																		
Operating Income		2,659		7,794		5,789		22,623																		
Net Income		1,390		5,448		2,769		16,678																		
Basic Earnings Per Share		0.02		0.07		0.04		0.22																		
Diluted Earnings Per Share		0.02		0.07		0.04		0.21																		
Basic Shares Outstanding		74,897		76,203		68,396		75,577																		
Diluted Shares Outstanding		76,464		78,859		70,702		78,041																		

#### Goodwill

The carrying amount of goodwill as of September 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007 is \$8,886,000 and consists of \$4,560,000 from the StassCo acquisition and \$4,326,000 from the acquisition of the hydraulic well control business (HWC) of Oil States in 2006.

#### E. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets were recognized in conjunction with the StassCo acquisition on July 31, 2007. There were no intangible assets prior to the acquisition.

		September 30, 2008 (Unaudited)							
Intangible assets		Gross Carrying Amount	Accu Amo		Net				
Customer Relationships	\$	3,600	\$	323	\$	3,277			
Non-compete agreements		1,086		275		811			
	\$	4,686	\$	598	\$	4,088			

Amortization expense on intangible assets for the quarter ended and the nine months ended September 30, 2008 was (in thousands) \$128 and \$384, respectively. Total amortization expense is expected to be (in thousands) \$512, \$512, \$512, \$417 and \$408 in 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011 and 2012, respectively.

#### F. LONG-TERM DEBT

Long-term debt at the dates indicated consisted of the following:

#### **Table of Contents**

	ptember 30, 2008 naudited) (00	 31, 2007
U.S. revolving credit facility, with available commitments up to \$10.3 million, a borrowing base of \$10.3 million as of September 30, 2008 and an interest rate of 5.00%		
as of September 30, 2008	\$ 6,536	\$ 1,058
U.S. term credit facility with initial borrowings of \$9.7 million, payable over 60 months		
and an interest rate of 5.50% as of September 30, 2008	4,411	5,867
Total debt	10,947	6,925
Less: current maturities	(1,940)	(1,940)
Total long-term debt	\$ 9,007	\$ 4,985

In conjunction with the acquisition of HWC on March 3, 2006, we entered into a Credit Agreement (the "Credit Agreement") with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, which established a revolving credit facility capacity totaling \$10.3 million, subject to an initial borrowing base of \$6.0 million, and a term credit facility totaling \$9.7 million. The term credit facility is payable monthly over a period of sixty months and is payable in full on March 3, 2010, subject to extension under certain circumstances to March 3, 2011. The revolving credit facility is due and payable in full on March 3, 2010, subject to a year-to-year renewal thereafter. We utilized initial borrowings under the Credit Agreement totaling \$10.5 million to repay senior and subordinated debt in full and to repurchase all of our outstanding shares of preferred stock and for other transaction related expenses. The loan balance outstanding on September 30, 2008 was \$4.4 million on the term credit facility and \$6.5 million on the revolving credit facility. The revolving credit facility borrowing base was \$10.3 million at September 30, 2008, adjusted for \$2.5 million outstanding under letters of credit and guarantees leaving \$7.8 million available to be drawn under the facility.

At our option, borrowings under the Credit Agreement bear interest at either (i) Wells Fargo's prime commercial lending rate plus a margin ranging, as to the revolving credit facility up to 1.00%, and, as to the term credit facility, from 0.50% to 1.50% or (ii) the London Inter-Bank Market Offered Rate plus a margin ranging, as to the revolving credit facility, from 2.50% to 3.00% per annum, and, as to the term credit facility, from 3.00% to 3.50%, which margin increases or decreases based on the ratio of the outstanding principal amount under the Credit Agreement to our consolidated EBITDA. The interest rate applicable to borrowings under the revolving credit facility and the term credit facility at September 30, 2008 was 5.00% and 5.50%, respectively. Interest is accrued and payable monthly for both agreements. Fees on unused commitments under the revolving credit facility are due monthly and range from 0.25% to 0.50% per annum, based on the ratio of the outstanding principal amount under the Credit Agreement to our consolidated EBITDA.

Substantially all of our assets are pledged as collateral under the Credit Agreement. The Credit Agreement contains various restrictive covenants and compliance requirements, including: (1) maintenance of a minimum book net worth in an amount not less than \$55 million, (for these purposes "book net worth" means the aggregate of our common and preferred stockholders' equity on a consolidated basis); (2) maintenance of a minimum ratio of our consolidated EBITDA less unfinanced capital expenditures to principal and interest payments required under the Credit Agreement, on a trailing twelve month basis, of 1.50 to 1.00; (3) notice within five (5) business days of making any capital expenditure exceeding \$500,000; and (4) limitation on the incurrence of additional indebtedness except for indebtedness arising under the subordinated promissory notes issued in connection with the HWC acquisition. We were in compliance with these covenants at September 30, 2008.

#### G. RELATED PARTY LONG-TERM DEBT

A related party note of \$15 million in unsecured subordinated debt was issued to Oil States Energy Services, Inc. in connection with the HWC acquisition, adjusted to \$21.2 million during the quarter ended June 30, 2006 to reflect a \$6.2 million adjustment for working capital acquired. The note bears interest at a rate of 10% per annum, and requires a one-time principal payment on September 9, 2010. Interest is accrued monthly and payable quarterly. The interest expense on the note was \$529,000 and \$1,587,000 for the quarters ended and nine months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### H. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

#### Litigation

We are involved in or threatened with various legal proceedings from time to time arising in the ordinary course of business. We do not believe that any liabilities resulting from any such proceedings will have a material adverse effect on our operations or financial position.

#### **Employment Contracts**

We have employment contracts with certain executives and other key employees with contract terms that include lump sum payments of up to two years of compensation including salary, benefits and incentive pay upon termination of employment under certain circumstances.

#### I. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted income per common share is computed by dividing net income attributable to common stockholders by the weighted average common shares outstanding. The weighted average number of shares used to compute basic and diluted earnings per share for the three months and nine months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007 are illustrated below (in thousands):

	Three Months Ended September 30,					Nine Months Ended September 30,		
		2008		2007		2008		2007
		(Unaudited)				(Unaudited)		
Numerator:								
For basic and diluted earnings per share:								
Net income attributable to common								
stockholders	\$	5,448	\$	1,331	\$	16,678	\$	2,069
Denominator:								
For basic earnings per share-								
weighted-average shares		76,203		74,897		75,577		68,396
Effect of dilutive securities:								
Stock options and warrants(1)		2,656		1,567		2,464		2,306
Denominator:								
For diluted earnings per share –								
weighted-average shares		78,859		76,464		78,041		70,702
weighted-average shares		78,859		76,464		78,041		70,702

<sup>(1)</sup> Excludes the effect of outstanding stock options, restricted shares, and warrants that have an anti-dilutive effect on earnings per share for the three months and nine months ended September 30, 2008 and September 30, 2007.

The exercise price of our stock options and stock warrants varies from \$0.67 to \$3.00 per share. The maximum number of potentially dilutive securities at September 30, 2008, and 2007 included: (1) 4,719,850 and 5,782,000 common shares, respectively, issuable upon exercise of stock options and stock settled stock appreciation rights, and (2) 163,500 and 637,500 common shares, respectively, issuable upon exercise of stock purchase warrants.

#### J. EMPLOYEE "STOCK-BASED" COMPENSATION

We have adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), "Share-Based Payment" ("SFAS No. 123R"), which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expense for all share-based payment awards made to employees, consultants and directors; including employee stock options based on estimated fair values. SFAS No. 123R supersedes our previous accounting under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees" ("APB 25") for periods beginning in fiscal year 2006. In March 2005, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 ("SAB 107") relating to SFAS No. 123R. We have applied the provisions of SAB 107 in our adoption of SFAS No. 123R.

#### **Table of Contents**

We used the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of options on the date of grant. The following assumptions were applied in determining stock-based employee compensation under SFAS No. 123R:

	Three Months Ended September 30,				Nine Months Ended September 30,			
		2008	2007		2008		2007	
Risk-free interest rate		3.23%	N/2	Α	3.23%		4.60%	
Expected dividend yield								
Expected option life		4.11 yrs	N/2	Α	4.11 yrs		3.9 yrs	
Expected volatility		53.3%	N/2	A	53.3%		60.8%	
Weighted average fair value of options								
granted at market value	\$	1.38	N/2	<b>A</b> \$	1.38	\$	1.03	
Forfeiture rate		6.67%	N/2	A	6.67%		4.12%	

#### K. BUSINESS SEGMENT INFORMATION

Our business segments are "well intervention" and "response". Intercompany transfers between segments were not material. Our accounting policies for the operating segments are the same as those described in Note A, "Basis of Presentation". For purposes of this presentation, operating expenses and depreciation and amortization have been charged to each segment based upon specific identification of expenses and remaining non-segment specific expenses have been allocated pro-rata between segments in proportion to their relative revenues. Selling, general and administrative and corporate expenses have been allocated between segments in proportion to their relative revenues.

Our well intervention segment consists of services that are designed to enhance production for oil and gas operators and reduce the number and severity of critical well events such as oil and gas well fires, blowouts or other incidents due to loss of control at the well. Our services include hydraulic workover and snubbing, prevention and risk management, and pressure control equipment rental services. These services are available for both onshore and offshore operations for U.S. and international customers. Domestically, we generate revenue from these services on a "call-out" basis and charge a day rate for equipment and personnel. This contracting structure permits dynamic pricing based on market conditions, which are primarily driven by the price of oil and natural gas. Call out services range in duration from less than a week, in the case of a single well cleanout procedure, to more than one year for a multi-well plugging and abandonment campaign. Internationally, revenue is typically generated on a contractual basis, with contracts ranging between six months and three years in duration. Additionally, this segment includes our pressure control equipment rental service business, which was an expansion of the Company's well intervention segment in 2007.

Our response services consist of personnel, equipment and emergency services utilized during a critical well event, such as an oil and gas well fire, blowout or other loss of control at the well. These services also include snubbing and pressure control services provided during a response which are designed to minimize response time, mitigate damage and maximize safety. Revenue is generated through personnel time and material. Personnel time consists of day rates charged for working crews usually consisting of a team of four personnel. Day rates charged for personnel time vary widely depending upon the perceived technical, political and security risks inherent in a project. Critical events are typically covered by our customers' insurance, lowering the risk of non-payment. The emergency response business is by nature episodic and unpredictable.

Information concerning segment operations for the three months and nine months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007 is presented below. Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior periods to conform to the current presentation.

#### **Table of Contents**

	Well Intervention		Response (Unaudited) (000's)		Coi	nsolidated
Three Months Ended September 30, 2008:						
Operating Revenues	\$	53,901	\$	2,551	\$	56,452
Operating Income(1)(2)		7,532		262		7,794
Identifiable Operating Assets(3)		165,492		10,201		175,693
Capital Expenditures		9,957		58		10,015
Depreciation and Amortization(1)		2,338		45		2,383
Three Months Ended September 30, 2007:						
Operating Revenues	\$	21,538	\$	3,435	\$	24,973
Operating Income(Loss)(1)(2)		1,268		1,284		2,552
Identifiable Operating Assets(4)		115,260		9,594		124,854
Capital Expenditures		5,221		992		6,213
Depreciation and Amortization(1)		1,466		85		1,551
	Well Intervention		Response (Unaudited) (000's)			
	Inte		(Un	audited)	Coi	nsolidated
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2008:	Inte		(Un	audited)	Cor	nsolidated
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2008: Operating Revenues	Inte		(Un	audited)	Con \$	nsolidated
-		ervention	(Un	audited) 000's)		
Operating Revenues		ervention 137,265	(Un	16,106		153,371
Operating Revenues Operating Income(1)(2)		137,265 17,910	(Un	16,106 4,713		153,371 22,623
Operating Revenues Operating Income(1)(2) Identifiable Operating Assets(3)		137,265 17,910 165,492	(Un	16,106 4,713 10,201		153,371 22,623 175,693
Operating Revenues Operating Income(1)(2) Identifiable Operating Assets(3) Capital Expenditures Depreciation and Amortization(1)		137,265 17,910 165,492 22,187	(Un	16,106 4,713 10,201 200		153,371 22,623 175,693 22,387
Operating Revenues Operating Income(1)(2) Identifiable Operating Assets(3) Capital Expenditures		137,265 17,910 165,492 22,187 6,238	(Un	16,106 4,713 10,201 200		153,371 22,623 175,693 22,387
Operating Revenues Operating Income(1)(2) Identifiable Operating Assets(3) Capital Expenditures Depreciation and Amortization(1)  Nine Months Ended September 30, 2007: Operating Revenues	\$	137,265 17,910 165,492 22,187	(Un (	16,106 4,713 10,201 200 419	\$	153,371 22,623 175,693 22,387 6,657
Operating Revenues Operating Income(1)(2) Identifiable Operating Assets(3) Capital Expenditures Depreciation and Amortization(1)  Nine Months Ended September 30, 2007: Operating Revenues Operating Income(1)(2)	\$	137,265 17,910 165,492 22,187 6,238	(Un (	16,106 4,713 10,201 200 419	\$	153,371 22,623 175,693 22,387 6,657
Operating Revenues Operating Income(1)(2) Identifiable Operating Assets(3) Capital Expenditures Depreciation and Amortization(1)  Nine Months Ended September 30, 2007: Operating Revenues	\$	137,265 17,910 165,492 22,187 6,238	(Un (	16,106 4,713 10,201 200 419 8,460 2,966	\$	153,371 22,623 175,693 22,387 6,657 69,184 4,600

<sup>(1)</sup>Operating expenses and depreciation and amortization have been charged to each segment based upon specific identification of expenses and the remaining non-segment specific expenses have been allocated pro-rata between segments in proportion to their relative revenues.

(3) At September 30, 2008

(4) At September 30, 2007

#### L. INCOME TAXES

<sup>(2)</sup> Selling, general and administrative expenses have been allocated pro-rata between segments based upon relative revenues and includes foreign exchange translation gains and losses.

Effective January 1, 2007, we adopted FASB Interpretation Number 48, "Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes" (FIN 48), which is intended to clarify the accounting for income taxes by prescribing a minimum recognition threshold for a tax position before being recognized in the financial statements. FIN 48 also provides guidance on derecognition, measurement, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. In accordance with the requirements of FIN 48, the Company evaluated all tax years still subject to potential audit under state, federal and foreign income tax law in reaching its accounting conclusions. In accordance with FIN 48, the Company recorded a charge of \$616,000 during 2007 and an associated charge of \$155,000 during the nine months ended September 30, 2008. The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense. Tax years subsequent to 2005 remain open to examination by U.S. federal tax jurisdictions, tax years subsequent to 1996 remain open in Venezuela, tax years subsequent to 1999 remain open in the Congo and tax years subsequent to 2004 remain open in Algeria.

#### **Table of Contents**

We have determined that as a result of the acquisition of HWC we experienced a change of control pursuant to limitations set forth in Section 382 of the IRS rules and regulations. As a result, we are limited to utilizing approximately \$2.1 million of U.S. net operating losses ("NOL's") to offset taxable income generated by us during the tax year ended December 31, 2008 and expect similar dollar limits in future years until our U.S. NOL's are either completely used or expire.

In each period, the Company assesses the likelihood that its deferred taxes will be recovered from the existing deferred tax liabilities or future taxable income in each jurisdiction. To the extent that the Company believes that it does not meet the test that recovery is "more likely than not," it established a valuation allowance. We have recorded valuation allowances for certain net deferred tax assets since management believes it is more likely than not that these particular assets will not be realized. The Company has determined that a portion of its deferred tax asset related to the U.S. NOL's will be realized. Accordingly in the first quarter 2008, \$0.7 million of valuation allowance was released, which represents one year of the Company's NOL limitation (\$2.1 million).

#### M. FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURE

Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Statement No. 157, Fair Value Measurements ("SFAS 157"), which defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, establishes a fair value hierarchy based on the quality of inputs used to measure fair value and enhances disclosure requirements for fair value measurements. The implementation of SFAS 157 did not cause a change in the method of calculating fair value of assets or liabilities, with the exception of incorporating a measure of the Company's own nonperformance risk or that of its counterparties as appropriate, which was not material. The primary impact from adoption was additional disclosures.

The Company elected to implement SFAS 157 with the one-year deferral permitted by FASB Staff Position No. FAS 157-2, Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157 ("FSP 157-2"), issued February 2008, which defers the effective date of SFAS 157 for one year for certain nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities measured at fair value, except those that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis. As it relates to the Company, the deferral applies to certain nonfinancial assets and liabilities as may be acquired in a business combination and thereby measured at fair value; impairment of fixed assets; and the initial recognition of asset retirement obligations for which fair value is used.

SFAS 157 establishes a three-level valuation hierarchy for disclosure of fair value measurements. The valuation hierarchy categorizes assets and liabilities measured at fair value into one of three different levels depending on the observability of the inputs employed in the measurement. The three levels are defined as follows:

- •Level 1 inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.
- •Level 2 inputs to the valuation methodology include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, and inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the financial instrument.
- Level 3 inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value measurement.

We generally apply fair value techniques on a non-recurring basis associated with (1) valuing potential impairment loss related to goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets accounted for pursuant to SFAS No. 142, and (2) valuing potential impairment loss related to long-lived assets accounted for pursuant to SFAS No. 144.

A financial instrument's categorization within the valuation hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The Company's assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment and considers factors specific to the asset or liability. The following table presents information about the Company's liability measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of September 30, 2008, and indicates the fair value hierarchy of the valuation techniques utilized by the Company to determine such fair value (in thousands):

#### **Table of Contents**

	Level 1	L	evel 2	Level 3		Total
Related Party Long Term Debt	-	\$	21,166		- \$	21,166

At September 30, 2008, Management estimates that the \$21,166,000 outstanding related party long term debt had a fair value of \$21,166,000. The Company determined the estimated fair value amount by using available market information and commonly accepted valuation methodologies. However, considerable judgment is required in interpreting market data to develop estimates of fair value. Accordingly, the fair value estimate presented herein is not necessarily indicative of the amount that the Company or the debt holder could realize in a current market exchange. The use of different assumptions and/or estimation methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair value.

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

#### Forward-looking statements

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides a safe harbor for forward-looking information. Forward-looking information is based on projections, assumptions and estimates, not historical information. Some statements in this Form 10-Q are forward-looking and may be identified as such through the use of words like "may," "may not," "believes," "do not believe," "expects," "do not expect," "do not anticipate," and other expressions. We may also provide oral or written forward-looking information on other materials we release to the public. Forward-looking information involves risks and uncertainties and reflects our best judgment based on current information. Actual events and our results of operations may differ materially from expectations because of inaccurate assumptions we make or by known or unknown risks and uncertainties. As a result, no forward-looking information can be guaranteed.

While it is not possible to identify all factors, the risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ from our forward-looking statements include those contained in this 10-Q, our press releases and our Forms 10-Q, 8-K and 10-K filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). We do not assume any responsibility to publicly update any of our forward-looking statements regardless of whether factors change as a result of new information, future events or for any other reason.

#### Overview

We provide a suite of integrated pressure control and related services to onshore and offshore oil and gas exploration and development companies, principally in North America, South America, North Africa, West Africa and the Middle East, including training, contingency planning, well plan reviews, audits, inspection services, engineering services, pressure control equipment rentals services, hydraulic snubbing workovers, well completions and plugging and abandonment services.

On March 3, 2006, we acquired the hydraulic well control business (HWC) of Oil States. As a result of the acquisition, we acquired the ability to provide hydraulic units for emergency well control situations and various well intervention solutions involving workovers, well drilling, well completions and plugging and abandonment services. Hydraulic units may be used for both routine and emergency well control situations in the oil and gas industry. A hydraulic unit is a specially designed rig used for moving tubulars in and out of a wellbore using hydraulic pressure. These units may also be used for snubbing operations to service wells under pressure. When a unit is snubbing, it is pushing pipe or tubulars into the wellbore against wellbore pressures.

On July 31, 2007, we acquired Rock Springs, Wyoming-based StassCo Pressure Control, LLC (StassCo) for \$11.2 million, net of cash acquired and including transaction costs and a payable to the former owners, utilizing cash

proceeds available from our underwritten public offering of common stock in April 2007. The transaction was effective for accounting and financial purposes as of August 1, 2007. StassCo operates four hydraulic rig assist units in the Cheyenne Basin, Wyoming, and its presence in the Rockies is a key to our strategy to expand North America land operations.

#### **Table of Contents**

We added our pressure control equipment rental service line to our suite of pressure control services during the fourth quarter of 2007. Our pressure control equipment and operating personnel are utilized primarily during the drilling and completion phases of oil and gas producing wells. We are currently operating this business in the Gulf Coast and Central and East Texas regions. We plan to expand into other operating areas where we provide pressure control services.

Demand for services depends on factors beyond our control, including the volume and type of drilling and workover activity occurring in response to fluctuations in oil and natural gas prices. Wars, acts of terrorism and other unpredictable factors may affect demand for our services on a regional basis. Demand for our emergency well control, or critical well event, services is volatile and inherently unpredictable. As a result we expect to experience large fluctuations in our revenues from these services. Non-critical services, included in our well intervention segment, while subject to typical industry volatility associated with commodity prices, drilling activity levels and the like, provide more stable revenues and our strategy continues to be to expand these product and service offerings while focusing on our core strength of pressure control services.

#### **Segment Information**

Our current business segments are "well intervention" and "response".

Our well intervention segment consists of services that are designed to enhance production for oil and gas operators and reduce the number and severity of critical well events such as oil and gas well fires, blowouts, or other incidents due to loss of control at the well. Our services include hydraulic workover and snubbing, prevention and risk management, and pressure control equipment rental services. Our hydraulic workover and snubbing units are used to enhance production of oil and gas wells. These units are used for underbalanced drilling, workover, well completions and plugging and abandonment services. This segment also includes services that are designed to reduce the number and severity of critical well events offered through our prevention and risk management programs, including training, contingency planning, well plan reviews, audits, inspection services and engineering services. Additionally, this segment includes our pressure control equipment rental service business, which was an expansion of the Company's well intervention segment in 2007. A typical job includes rental of equipment such as high pressure flow iron, valves, manifolds and chokes. Typically one or two technicians assemble, operate and maintain our equipment during the rental phase. We provide these services on a day rental and service basis with rates varying based on the type of equipment and length of time of rental and service.

The response segment consists of personnel, equipment and services provided during an emergency response such as a critical well event or a hazardous material response. These services also include snubbing and pressure control services provided during a response which are designed to minimize response time and mitigate damage while maximizing safety. In the past, during periods of few critical events, resources dedicated to emergency response were underutilized or, at times, idle, while the fixed costs of operations continued to be incurred, contributing to significant operating losses. To mitigate these consequences, we have concentrated on growing our well intervention business to provide more predictable revenues. We expect our response business segment to benefit from cross-selling opportunities created by our pressure control services driven by our well intervention business development team as well as our expanded geographic presence.

Intercompany transfers between segments were not material. Our accounting policies for the operating segments are the same as those described in Note A, "Basis of Presentation" and as disclosed in our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007. For purposes of this presentation, operating expenses and depreciation and amortization have been charged to each segment based upon specific identification of expenses and an allocation of remaining non-segment specific expenses pro-rata between segments based upon relative revenues. Selling, general and administrative and corporate expenses have been allocated between segments in proportion to their relative

revenue. Business segment operating data from continuing operations is presented for purposes of management discussion and analysis of operating results. StassCo's operating results from and after August 1, 2007 are included in our consolidated operating results.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Results of operations

Information concerning operations in different business segments for the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2008 and 2007 is presented below. Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior periods to conform to the current presentation.

	Three Months Ended September 30,			Nine Months Ended September 30,					
		(Unaudited)				•	1		
		2008		2007		2008		2007	
Revenues									
Well Intervention	\$	53,901	\$	21,538	\$	137,265	\$	60,724	
Response		2,551		3,435		16,106		8,460	
	\$	56,452	\$	24,973	\$	153,371	\$	69,184	
Cost of Sales, excluding depreciation and amortization									
Well Intervention	\$	35,414	\$	13,816	\$	89,401	\$	40,339	
Response		744		960		5,968		2,270	
	\$	36,158	\$	14,776	\$	95,369	\$	42,609	
Operating Expenses(1)									
Well Intervention	\$	6,288	\$	3,499	\$	16,701	\$	10,821	
Response		1,393		881		4,152		2,545	
	\$	7,681	\$	4,380	\$	20,853	\$	13,366	
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses(2)									
Well Intervention	\$	2,329	\$	1,489	\$	7,015	\$	3,821	
Response		107		225		854		527	
	\$	2,436	\$	1,714	\$	7,869	\$	4,348	
Depreciation and Amortization(1)									
Well Intervention	\$	2,338	\$	1,466	\$	6,238	\$	4,109	
Response		45		85		419		152	
	\$	2,383	\$	1,551	\$	6,657	\$	4,261	
Operating Income									
Well Intervention	\$	7,532	\$	1,268	\$	17,910	\$	1,634	
Response		262		1,284		4,713		2,966	
	\$	7,794	\$	2,552	\$	22,623	\$	4,600	

<sup>(1)</sup> Operating expenses and depreciation and amortization have been charged to each segment based upon specific identification of expenses and the remaining non-segment specific expenses have been allocated pro-rata between segments in proportion to their relative revenues.

Comparison of the Three Months Ended September 30, 2008 with the Three Months Ended September 30, 2007

#### Revenues

<sup>(2)</sup> Selling, general and administrative expenses have been allocated pro-rata between segments based upon relative revenues and includes foreign exchange translation gains and losses.

Well intervention revenues were \$53,901,000 for the quarter ended September 30, 2008, compared to \$21,538,000 for the quarter ended September 30, 2007, representing an increase of \$32,363,000, or 150.3%, in the current quarter. The largest increase is due to revenue of \$18,014,000 from a prevention and risk management international project, which is expected to be concluded in the fourth quarter. The remaining increase resulted from the addition of our pressure control equipment rental service business, and from the increased activity in snubbing services in Algeria, Wyoming, Gulf of Mexico, Venezuela and Mid Continent region.

Response revenues were \$2,551,000 for the quarter ended September 30, 2008, compared to \$3,435,000 for the quarter ended September 30, 2007, a decrease of \$884,000, or 25.7%, in the current quarter due to a lower level of international emergency response activity.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Cost of Sales

Well intervention cost of sales were \$35,414,000 for the quarter ended September 30, 2008, compared to \$13,816,000 for the quarter ended September 30, 2007, an increase of \$21,598,000, or 156.31%, in the current quarter. During the current quarter, cost of sales represented 65.7% of revenues compared to 64.1% of revenues in the prior year quarter. The increase in cost of sales is in line with an increase in revenues.

Response cost of sales were \$744,000 for the quarter ended September 30, 2008, compared to \$960,000 for the quarter ended September 30, 2007, a decrease of \$216,000, or 22.5%. During the current quarter, cost of sales represented 29.2% of revenues compared to 27.9% of revenues in the prior year quarter. The decrease in cost of sales is generally attributable to decreased revenues while the percentage increase was primarily due to lower revenues in relation to components of costs that are fixed and semi-fixed.

#### **Operating Expenses**

Consolidated operating expenses were \$7,681,000 for the quarter ended September 30, 2008, compared to \$4,380,000 for the quarter ended September 30, 2007, an increase of \$3,301,000, or 75.4%, in the current quarter. During the current quarter, operating expenses represented 13.6% of revenues compared to 17.5% of revenues in the prior year quarter. The increase in operating expenses was primarily due to increases in bonuses, salaries and benefits, and facility and training expenses, resulting from the geographic expansion of our product lines in Algeria, the Middle East and North Texas and the development of our pressure control equipment rental service business. Operating expenses also increased due to a gain on disposal of assets in the prior year quarter which did not recur in the current year quarter. The percentage decrease was primarily due to higher revenues in relation to increases in expenses due to components of such expenses that are fixed and semi-fixed.

#### Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Consolidated selling, general and administrative expenses (SG&A) and other operating expenses were \$2,436,000 for the quarter ended September 30, 2008, compared to \$1,714,000 for the quarter ended September 30, 2007, an increase of \$722,000, or 42.1%, in the current quarter. During the current quarter, SG&A and other operating expenses represented 4.3% of revenues compared to 6.9% of revenues in the prior year quarter. The increase in total SG&A expense was primarily due to increases in bonuses, and salaries and benefits associated with the addition of personnel supporting the growth in our geographic and service lines expansion. The percentage decrease was primarily due to higher revenues in relation to increases in expenses due to components of such expenses that are fixed and semi-fixed.

#### Depreciation and Amortization

Consolidated depreciation and amortization expense increased by \$832,000 in the quarter ended September 30, 2008 compared to the quarter ended September 30, 2007, primarily due to the depreciation increase of \$647,000 resulting from an increase in capitalized assets in 2008 and late 2007.

#### Interest Expense

Interest expense increased by \$13,000 or 1.9% in the quarter ended September 30, 2008 compared to the prior year quarter. Interest expense remained relatively consistent due to a higher level of borrowing on our revolving credit facility offset by a lower balance on our term credit facility and by lower interest rates applicable to our revolving and term credit facilities.

#### **Table of Contents**

Other (Income) and Expense, net

Net other income and expenses was \$179,000 lower in the quarter ended September 30, 2008 compared to the prior year quarter primarily due to a decrease in interest income of \$185,000 compared to the prior year quarter as a result of a reduction in funds available for investment.

#### Income Tax Expense

Income taxes for the quarter ended September 30, 2008 totaled \$1,658,000, or 23.3% of pre-tax income compared to the quarter ended September 30, 2007 which totaled \$725,000, or 35.3% of pre-tax income. The increase in tax expense for the quarter ended September 30, 2008 compared to the prior year quarter is due to an increase in income before tax offset by a decrease in the effective tax rate. The decrease in the effective tax rate is largely due to the utilization of foreign tax credits, the utilization of US net operating loss carryforward and the release of associated valuation allowances.

Comparison of the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2008 with the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2007

#### Revenues

Well intervention revenues were \$137,265,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2008, compared to \$60,724,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2007, an increase of \$76,541,000, or 126.0% in the current period. The increase in revenue is due to \$36,715,000 of revenues from the bundling of a particular mix of prevention and risk management and hydraulic workover projects and increased activity from the addition of our pressure control equipment rental service business, and from our snubbing services growth initiatives.

Response revenues were \$16,106,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2008, compared to \$8,460,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2007, an increase of \$7,646,000, or 90.4%, in the current period. The increase was primarily due to a higher level of international emergency response.

#### Cost of Sales

Well Intervention cost of sales were \$89,401,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2008, compared to \$40,339,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2007, an increase of \$49,0662,000, or 121.6%, in the current period. During the current first nine month period, cost of sales represented 65.1% of revenues compared to 66.4% of revenues in the prior year nine months. The increase in cost of sales is generally attributable to increased revenues, while the percentage decrease was primarily due to higher revenues in relation to the component of costs which are fixed and semi-fixed.

Response cost of sales were \$5,968,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2008, compared to \$2,270,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2007, an increase of \$3,698,000, or 162.9%, in the current period. During the nine months ended September 30, 2008, cost of sales represented 37.1% of revenues compared to 26.8% of revenues in the prior year. The 12.4% increase was primarily due to an increase in third party equipment rental expenses, security expenses and agent fees in the current year.

#### **Operating Expenses**

Consolidated operating expenses were \$20,853,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2008, compared to \$13,366,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2007, an increase of \$7,487,000, or 56.0% in the current period. During the current year nine month period, operating expenses represented 13.6% of revenues compared to

20.3% of revenues in the prior year nine months. The increase in operating expenses was primarily due to increases in salaries and benefits, bonuses, travel and entertainment, tools and supplies, and professional fees as a result of geographic expansion and pressure control equipment rental service business. Operating expenses also increased due to a gain on disposal of assets in the prior year nine months which did not recur in the current year nine months. The percentage decrease was primarily due to higher revenues in relation to increases in expenses due to components of such expenses that are fixed and semi-fixed.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Consolidated SG&A expenses were \$7,869,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2008, compared to \$4,348,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2007, an increase of \$3,521,000, or 81.0%, in the current period. During the nine months ended September 30, 2008, SG&A expense represented 5.1% of revenues compared to 6.3% of revenues in the prior year. This increase in total SG&A expense is primarily due to bonuses, salaries and benefits, advertising and customer relations, and professional fees. The percentage decrease was primarily due to higher revenues in relation to increases in expenses due to components of such expenses that are fixed and semi-fixed.

#### Depreciation and Amortization

Consolidated depreciation and amortization expense increased by \$2,396,000 between the nine months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007. The increase was primarily due to the depreciation increase of \$2,097,000 resulting from an increase in capitalized assets in 2008. Additionally, amortization of intangible assets, related to our acquisition of StassCo Pressure Control LLC in August 2007, for nine months in 2008 compared to two months in 2007 was \$384,000 and 85,000, respectively. The intangible assets consist of customer relationships being amortized over a 13 year period and management non-compete agreements being amortized over 5.5 and 3.5 year periods.

## Interest Expense

Interest expense increased by \$36,000 or 1.8% in the nine months ended September 30, 2008 compared to the prior year period. The increase was primarily due to a higher level of borrowing on our revolving credit facility offset by a lower balance on our term credit facility and lower interest rates applicable to our revolving and term credit facilities.

#### Other (Income) and Expense, net

Net other income and expense was \$459,000 lower in the nine months ended September 30, 2008 compared to the prior year period, primarily due to a decrease in interest income of \$457,000 compared to the prior year quarter as a result of a reduction in funds available for investment.

#### Income Tax Expense

Income taxes for the nine months ended September 30, 2008 were \$3,974,000, or 19.2% of pre-tax income compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2007 of \$1,055,000, or 33.8% of pre-tax income. The decrease in the year-to-date effective rate for the nine months ended September 30, 2008 compared to nine months ended September 30, 2007 is due to the higher portion of 2008 net income before taxes from US sources, which allowed for greater utilization of net operating loss carryforwards and foreign tax credits. The increase in tax expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2008 compared to the prior year period is due to an increase in net income before tax offset partially by the decrease in the effective tax rate.

### Liquidity and Capital Resources

#### Liquidity

At September 30, 2008, we had working capital of \$42,105,000 compared to \$34,712,000 at December 31, 2007. Our cash balance at September 30, 2008 was \$6,087,000 compared to \$6,501,000 at December 31, 2007. We ended the quarter with stockholders' equity of \$95,823,000 which increased \$18,780,000 when compared to \$77,043,000 at December 31, 2007 primarily due to our net income of \$16,678,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2008.

#### **Table of Contents**

Our primary liquidity needs are to fund working capital, debt service, acquisitions, and capital expenditures such as assembling hydraulic units, expanding our pressure control fleet of equipment and replacing support equipment for our hydraulic workover and snubbing service line. Our primary sources of liquidity are cash flows from operations and borrowings under our credit facilities.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2008, we generated net cash from operating activities of \$16,517,000 compared to \$8,285,000 during the nine months ended September 30, 2007. Cash was provided by operations primarily through net income of \$16,678,000 plus non cash charges of \$7,223,000, increases in accounts payable and accrued liabilities of \$16,759,000 and decreases in other assets of \$744,000. The increases in accounts payable and accrued liabilities were mainly due to the increased level of costs and expenses incurred with greater revenue in the first nine months of 2008 compared to the same period in 2007. These positive cash flows were offset by increases in receivables of \$21,760,000, increases in prepaid expenses and other current assets of \$1,495,000, increases in inventory of \$1,376,000 and gain on sale/disposal of assets of \$256,000. Receivables increased due to greater revenue in the first nine months of 2008 compared to the same period in 2007.

Cash used in investing activities during the nine months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007 was \$22,037,000 and \$22,121,000, respectively. Capital expenditures totaled \$22,387,000 and \$12,766,000 during the nine months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Capital expenditures in 2008 consisted primarily of purchases of assets for our hydraulic workover and snubbing services and our pressure control equipment rental services, while our 2007 capital expenditures were primarily purchases of hydraulic workover and snubbing equipment. We currently expect to spend a total of approximately \$26 million for capital expenditures during 2008 to expand our hydraulic workover and snubbing services and our pressure control equipment rental services and for maintenance and upgrade of our equipment.

We generated net cash of \$5,106,000 from financing activities during the nine months ended September 30, 2008 primarily as a result of borrowings under our revolving credit facility of \$5,477,000. During the nine months ended September 30, 2007, cash provided by financing activities was \$25,760,000 primarily due to funds received from the underwritten public offering of 14.95 million shares of our common stock in April 2007.

We operate internationally, giving rise to exposure to market risks from changes in foreign currency exchange rates to the extent that transactions are not denominated in U.S. Dollars. We typically endeavor to denominate our contracts in U.S. Dollars to mitigate exposure to fluctuations in foreign currencies. On September 30, 2008, we had cash of \$2,771,000 denominated in Bolivares Fuertes and residing in a Venezuelan bank. Venezuela trade accounts receivables of \$4,802,000 were denominated in Bolivares Fuertes and included along with cash in net working capital denominated in Bolivares Fuertes of \$4,070,000 and subject to market risks.

The Venezuelan government implemented a foreign currency control regime on February 5, 2003. This has resulted in currency controls that restrict the conversion of the Venezuelan currency to U.S. Dollars. The Company has registered with the control board (CADIVI) in order to have a portion of total receivables in U.S dollar payments made directly to a United States bank account. Venezuela is also on the U.S. government's "watch list" for highly inflationary economies. Management continues to monitor the situation closely.

Effective January 1, 2006, and related to our acquisition of the hydraulic well control business of Oil States, we changed our functional currency in Venezuela from the Venezuelan Bolivar Fuerte to the U.S. Dollar. This change allows us to have one consistent functional currency after the acquisition. Accumulated other comprehensive loss reported in the consolidated statements of stockholders' equity before January 1, 2006 totaled \$1.2 million and consisted solely of the cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment in Venezuela prior to changing our functional currency. In accordance with SFAS No. 52, "Foreign Currency Translation," the currency translation adjustment recorded up through the date of the change in functional currency will only be adjusted in the event of a

full or partial disposition of our investment in Venezuela.

#### **Table of Contents**

Disclosure of on and off balance sheet debts and commitments

The following table summarizes certain contractual obligations that are reflected in the consolidated balance sheets and/or disclosed in the accompanying notes.

Future (	Comm	itments (000	o's) at Se	eptember 30	, 2008			
	Less than 1							
Description	Total		year		1-3years		3-5 years	
Long and short term debt and								
notes payable								
Term loan	\$	4,411	\$	1,940	\$	2,471	\$	_
Revolving credit facility	\$	6,536			\$	6,536		
Subordinated debt (a)	\$	21,166		_	\$	21,166		_
Future minimum lease payments	\$	3,097	\$	865	\$	1,308	\$	924
Total commitments	\$	35,211	\$	2,805	\$	31,482	\$	924

(a) Includes \$15 million of notes issued to Oil States Energy Services, Inc. adjusted to \$21.2 million during the quarter ended June 30, 2006 for working capital in connection with the HWC acquisition.

#### Credit Facilities/Capital Resources

In conjunction with the acquisition of HWC on March 3, 2006, we entered into a Credit Agreement (the "Credit Agreement") with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, which established a revolving credit facility capacity totaling \$10.3 million, subject to an initial borrowing base of \$6.0 million, and a term credit facility totaling \$9.7 million. The term credit facility is payable monthly over a period of sixty months and is payable in full on March 3, 2010, subject to extension under certain circumstances to March 3, 2011. The revolving credit facility is due and payable in full on March 3, 2010, subject to a year-to-year renewal thereafter. We utilized initial borrowings under the Credit Agreement totaling \$10.5 million to repay senior and subordinated debt in full and to repurchase all of our outstanding shares of preferred stock and for other transaction related expenses. The loan balance outstanding on September 30, 2008 was \$4.4 million on the term credit facility and \$6.5 million on the revolving credit facility. The revolving credit facility borrowing base was \$10.3 million at September 30, 2008, adjusted for \$2.5 million outstanding under letters of credit and guarantees leaving \$7.8 million available to be drawn under the facility.

At our option, borrowings under the Credit Agreement bear interest at either (i) Wells Fargo's prime commercial lending rate plus a margin ranging, as to the revolving credit facility up to 1.00%, and, as to the term credit facility, from 0.50% to 1.50% or (ii) the London Inter-Bank Market Offered Rate plus a margin ranging, as to the revolving credit facility, from 2.50% to 3.00% per annum, and, as to the term credit facility, from 3.00% to 3.50%, which margin increases or decreases based on the ratio of the outstanding principal amount under the Credit Agreement to our consolidated EBITDA. The interest rate applicable to borrowings under the revolving credit facility and the term credit facility at September 30, 2008 was 5.00% and 5.50%, respectively. Interest is accrued and payable monthly for both agreements. Fees on unused commitments under the revolving credit facility are due monthly and range from 0.25% to 0.50% per annum, based on the ratio of the outstanding principal amount under the Credit Agreement to our consolidated EBITDA.

Substantially all of our assets are pledged as collateral under the Credit Agreement. The Credit Agreement contains various restrictive covenants and compliance requirements, including: (1) maintenance of a minimum book net worth in an amount not less than \$55 million, (for these purposes "book net worth" means the aggregate of our common and preferred stockholders' equity on a consolidated basis); (2) maintenance of a minimum ratio of our consolidated

EBITDA less unfinanced capital expenditures to principal and interest payments required under the Credit Agreement, on a trailing twelve month basis, of 1.50 to 1.00; (3) notice within five (5) business days of making any capital expenditure exceeding \$500,000; and (4) limitation on the incurrence of additional indebtedness except for indebtedness arising under the subordinated promissory notes issued in connection with the HWC acquisition. We were in compliance with these covenants at September 30, 2008.

#### **Table of Contents**

The \$15 million of unsecured subordinated debt issued to Oil States Energy Services, Inc., in connection with the HWC acquisition was adjusted to \$21.2 million during the quarter ended June 30, 2006, after a \$6.2 million adjustment for working capital acquired. The note bears interest at a rate of 10% per annum, and requires a one-time principal payment on September 9, 2010.

#### Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We derive a substantial portion of our revenues from our international operations. For the first nine months of 2008, approximately 79% of our total revenues were generated internationally. Due to the unpredictable nature of the critical well events that drive our response segment revenues and fluctuations in regional demand for our well intervention segment products and services, the percentage of our revenues that are derived from a particular country or geographic region can be expected to vary significantly from quarter to quarter. Although most transactions are denominated in U. S. Dollars, the foreign currency risks that we are subject to may vary from quarter to quarter depending upon the countries in which we are then operating and the payment terms under the contractual arrangements we have with our customers.

During the first nine months of 2008, work in Venezuela and Algeria accounted for approximately 30.5% of our international revenues which was down from the prior year period when revenues from these countries represented 56.8% of total international revenues. Remaining foreign revenues for the first nine months of 2008 were primarily generated in the Republic of Congo, Nigeria, Dubai, Bangladesh, India, Qatar and Egypt, with India and Qatar projects representing over 30% of total international revenues for the period. For more information regarding our foreign currency risks, see "Liquidity and Capital Resources – Liquidity".

Our debt consists of both fixed-interest and variable-interest rate debt; consequently, our earnings and cash flows, as well as the fair values of our fixed-rate debt instruments, are subject to interest-rate risk.

As of September 30, 2008, we had floating rate obligations totaling approximately \$10.6 million. See "Liquidity and Capital Resources – Credit Facilities/Capital Resources" for more information. These floating rate obligations expose us to the risk of increased interest expense in the event of increases in short-term interest rates. We have performed sensitivity analyses on the variable-interest rate debt to assess the impact of this risk based on a hypothetical 10% increase in market interest rates. If the floating interest rate was to increase by 10% from the September 30, 2008 levels, our interest expense would increase by a total of approximately \$54,000 annually.

#### Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined under Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), as of September 30, 2008. Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded, based upon their evaluation, that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure that the information required to be disclosed in reports that we file under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms and accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred during our last fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **PART II**

### Item 1. Legal Proceedings

We are involved in or threatened with various legal proceedings from time to time arising in the ordinary course of business. We do not believe that any such proceedings will have a material adverse effect on our operations or financial position.

#### Item 1A. Risk Factors

Our customers' activity levels and spending for our products and services may be adversely impacted by the recent volatility of oil and natural gas prices and the current deterioration in the credit and capital markets.

Recently, commodity prices have been extremely volatile and have declined substantially. While current commodity prices are important contributors to positive cash flow for our customers, expectations about future prices and price volatility are generally more important for determining their future spending levels and demand for our products and services. Additionally, many of our customers finance their activities through cash flow from operations, the incurrence of debt or the issuance of equity. Recently, there has been a significant decline in the capital markets and the availability of credit. Additionally, many of our customers' equity values have substantially declined. The combination of a reduction of cash flow resulting from declines in commodity prices, a reduction in borrowing bases under reserve-based credit facilities and the lack of availability of debt or equity financing may result in our customers reducing capital expenditure budgets, curtailing operations or failing to meet their obligations as they come due. A material reduction in or curtailment of, the operations or growth of our customer base as a whole, or any failure of our customers to meet or continue their contractual obligations to us could have a material adverse effect on our revenues and results of operations.

Deterioration of the credit and capital markets may hinder or prevent our access to capital, making it more expensive and difficult for us to meet future capital needs.

Global financial markets and economic conditions have been, and continue to be, disrupted and volatile, which has caused a substantial deterioration in the credit and capital markets. In particular, the cost of raising money in the debt and equity capital markets has increased substantially while the availability of funds from those markets generally has diminished significantly. Also, as a result of concerns about the stability of financial markets generally and the solvency of counterparties specifically, the cost of obtaining money from the credit markets has increased as many lenders and institutional investors have increased interest rates, enacted tighter lending standards, refused to refinance existing debt at maturity at all or on comparable terms to existing debt, and reduced and, in some cases, ceased to provide new funding to borrowers.

Due to these factors, we cannot be certain that funding from credit and capital markets will be available if needed and, to the extent required, on acceptable terms. If funding is not available when needed or on unfavorable terms, we may be unable to meet our obligations as they come due or may be required to reduce our capital expenditures and, therefore, be unable to expand our existing business, complete acquisitions or otherwise take advantage of business opportunities or respond to competitive pressures, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our revenues and results of operations.

Also see Risk Factors under Item 1A included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to the surrender of our common stock by employees in exchange for the payment of certain tax obligations during the three months ended September 30, 2008.

#### **Table of Contents**

				Maximum Number (or
				Approximate
			Total Number of	Dollar Value) of
			Shares Purchased as	Shares that
			Part of Publicly	May Yet Be Purchased
	Total Number of	Average Price	Announced Plans	Under the Plans or
	Shares Purchased (1)	Paid Per Share	or Programs	Programs
July 2008	25.500 \$	\$ 1.45	_	

<sup>(1)</sup> All of the shares were surrendered by employees in exchange for the payment of tax withholding upon the vesting of restricted stock awards. The acquisition of the surrendered shares was not part of a publicly announced program to repurchase shares of our common stock.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None

Item 4. Submissions of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None

Item 5. Other Information

None

Item 6. Exhibits

(a) Exhibits

Exhibit No.	Document
10.1	2004 Long Term Incentive Plan (amended and restated as of August 1, 2008) (1)
<u>*31.1</u>	§302 Certification by Jerry Winchester
<u>*31.2</u>	§302 Certification by Cary Baetz
<u>*32.1</u>	§906 Certification by Jerry Winchester
<u>*32.2</u>	§906 Certification by Cary Baetz

# \*Filed herewith

(1) Filed as an Exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 6, 2008.

## **Table of Contents**

#### **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

BOOTS & COOTS INTERNATIONAL WELL CONTROL, INC.

By: /s/ Jerry Winchester

Jerry Winchester

Chief Executive Officer

By: /s/Cary Baetz

Cary Baetz Chief Financial Officer

Date: November 6, 2008